FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/19/2021 3:53 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 99714-4 Court of Appeals No. 53763-0-II

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KENNETH AND VICTORIA ZIMMERMAN,

Petitioner,

v.

WILMINGTON SAVINGS FUND SOCIETY FSB, AS TRUSTEE FOR STANWICH MORTGAGE LOAN TRUST A,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

By:

Drew Mazzeo
Harbor Appeals and Law, PLLC
2401 Bristol Court SW, Suite C-102
Olympia, WA 98502
(360) 539-7156
office@harborappeals.com

Attorney for Petitioner

1. IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONER

Petitioner Kenneth and Victoria Zimmerman ("the Zimmermans") ask this Court to review the decision of the Court of Appeals, Division 2, referred to in Section 2.

2. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Pierce County Superior Court found that the Zimmermans substantially complied with RCW 4.28.185 when serving the summons and complaint in this action, out of state, on Respondents. Despite this finding of proper service and personal jurisdiction, the Superior Court vacated the default judgment against Respondents. It did so even though Respondent's motion to vacate was solely based on insufficient service of process and lack of personal jurisdiction. The finding of proper service was correct but vacating the default judgment given such a finding did not have a basis in law.

Division 2 of the Court of Appeals, on March 30, 2021, ruled that RCW 4.28.185, Washington's long-arm statute, is "applied narrowly because jurisdiction obtained through service out of state is in derogation of the common law." (emphasis added). No other explanation of how the derogation of common law doctrine, and its purported strict scrutiny standard, applied to the statute or case at hand was given. Contradictorily, Division 2 then held that the evidence presented to the trial court was

insufficient to constitute "substantial compliance" with "RCW 4.28.185(4)." This was error, an erroneous application of strict scrutiny, and an improper re-weighing of evidence by a court of appeal.

3. ISSUES PRESENTED

- 3.1. Whether under RAP 13.4(b)(1), this Court should accept review of Division 2's decision because such decision conflicts with decisions of this Court and courts of appeal regarding the proper standard of review for RCW 4.28.185, not re-weighing the evidence on appeal, and not disturbing trial court factual findings supported by substantial evidence? Yes.
- 3.2. Whether under RAP 13.4(b)(4), this Court should accept review of Division 2's decision, as a matter of substantial public interest, to "craft a proper and meaningful principle of construction when a statute purports to change an identified common law rule" and a court of appeal decides the case based on the much criticized derogation of the common law doctrine? Yes.

4. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

- 4.1. In 2010, the Zimmermans defaulted on a promissory note secured by a deed of trust. (CP at 3).
- 4.2. In January of 2016, the Zimmermans received a notice regarding their loan. (CP at 7-8). This notice informed the Zimmerman's that their loan had been sold to Wilmington Savings Fund Society FSB, as Trustee for Stanich Mortgage Loan Trust A ("Wilmington Savings"). (CP at 7-8). The notice provided Wilmington Savings address for service of "legal notices." (CP at 8). The address was unambiguously in Delaware:

//

NEW CREDITOR INFORMATION

Please be advised that all questions involving the administration of your loan (including questions related to payments, deferrals, modifications or foreclosures) should be directed to the servicer at the number above and/or the agent (if any) of the new creditor identified below, and not to the new creditor. The new creditor does not have access to information relating to the administration of your loan, and will not be able to answer most loan-related questions.

Name: Wilmington Savings Fund Society FSB as trustee for Stanwich Mortgage Loan Trust A

Mailing Address (not for payments):

500 Delaware Avenue 11th Floor Wilmington, DE 19801

Telephone Number:

302-888-7437

Scope of responsibilities: As new creditor, the above-named trust holds legal title to your loan. The trustee, on behalf of the new creditor, is authorized to receive legal notices and to exercise (or cause an agent on its behalf to exercise) certain rights of ownership with respect to your loan.

(CP at 8). Specifically, the notice stated that Wilmington Savings "held legal title to" the Zimmerman's "loan" and that it was "authorized to receive legal notices" in Delaware. (CP at 8). No city or town in Washington State is named "Wilmington."

- 4.3. Also in January of 2016, the Zimmerman's received a "Notice of Foreclosure" informing the Zimmerman's that their property would be sold in May of 2016. (CP at 11-12).
- 4.4. In November of 2016, the Zimmerman's filed a complaint to quiet title against the deed of trust, under RCW 7.28.300, on the basis that the applicable statute of limitations period had passed. (CP at 3-4).

¹ Wilmington Savings had issued IRS tax form 1099-C in effect accelerating the debt, forgiving it, and placing the entire loan debt on the Zimmermans for tax purposes. (RP August 2, 2019, at 6-7, 10-12, 162-63).

- 4.5. The Complaint alleged that the Superior Court had jurisdiction over Wilmington Savings because it conducted in a transaction in Washington State and held debt in Washington State encumbering real property. (CP at 2). The Complaint alleged that jurisdiction was properly over North Cascade Trustee Services, Inc., based on it serving as trustee over the real property.
- 4.6. The Zimmermans served North Cascade Trustee Service, Inc., at its Seattle, WA address as provided in the Notice of Foreclosure. (CP at 14). The Zimmermans attempted to serve Wilmington Savings (CP at 15) at the Delaware address that was "authorized to receive legal notices." (CP at 8). The process server reported that the "[s]ervice [was] rejected by Debbie Green, Legal Administrator" because she "was not authorized to accept service at th[at] location." (CP at 15). Instead, the process server was told by the "Legal Administrator" that "All documents related to a trust must be served on their trust division at 501 Carr Road, Wilmington, DE 19809":

XXXX Non-Service: After due search, careful inquiry and diligent attempts at the address(es) listed above, I have been unable to effect process upon the person/entity being served because of the following reason(s):

Date Attempted: December 2; 2016 Time Attempted: 4:26 p.m.

** Service rejected by Debbie Green, Legal Administrator as they are not authorized to accept at this location. All documents related to a trust must be served on their trust division at 501 Carr Road, Wilmington, DE 19809.

I declare under penalty of perjury that the information contained herein is true and correct and this affidavit was executed on:

// //

//

December 4, 2016 at Wilmington.	Delaware										
Date City	State										
		Daniel Newcomb, Process Server									
State of Delaware		Delaware Attorney Services									
County of New Castle		3516 Silverside Rd. # 16									
		Wilmington, DE 19810									
Subscribed and sworn before me, a Notary Public of the State of Delaware on December 4, 2016											
Witness My Hand and Official Seal To		Limbely Ryan									
		Kimberly J. Ryan, My Commission Expires 4/29/2020									
	annu.	Notary Public, State of Delaware									
(CP at 15).											

4.7. The process server then perfected service on Wilmington Savings, as directed, at 501 Carr Road, Wilmington, DE 19809:

		Country	 Little
I declare that I am a citizen of the United States, over the age of eighteen and not a party to this action. within the boundaries of the state where service was effected, I was authorized to perform said service.			EPUT
Service: I served Wilmington Savings Fund Society FSB, as Trustee for Stanwich Mortgage Loan Tru	st A		
with the documents: Summons; and Complaint			
Person Served: Patti Smith, Legal Administrator authorized to accept			
Service Address: Wilmington Savings Fund Society, FSB - Trust Division 501 Carr Road, Wilmington,	DE 19809		
Date of Service: December 2, 2016 Time of Service: 2:10 p.m.			
Manner of Service: (X) By personally delivering copies to the person/authorized agent of entity being () By leaving, during office hours, copies at the office of the person/entity being served, leaving same with the person apparently () By leaving copies at the dwelling house or usual place of abode of the person being served, with a member of the household I: nature of the papers. () By posting copies in a conspicuous manner to the address of the person/entity being served. Non-Service: After due search, careful inquiry and diligent attempts at the address(es) listed above, I have been unable to effecting served because of the following reason(s): () Unknown at address () Evading () Moved, left no forwarding () Address does not exist () Service canceled by Litigant () Unable to serve in a timely fashion ()Other	in charge thereof 8 or older and explain		
Service Attempts: Service was attempted onatatat,			
Description: Age: 65 Sex: F Race: W Hgt: 5'6" Wgt: 145 lbs Hair: Gray Glasse	s: Yes		
I declare under penalty of perjury that the information contained herein is true and correct and this affida	avit was executed	on:	
December 4, 2016 at Wilmington, Delaware Date City State Authority			
State of Delaware Sharfene Ryan, Process Shar			

(CP at 16). Wilmington Savings expressly accepted the service of the summons and complaint at this location. (CP at 16).

4.8. In February of 2017, the Zimmermans moved for a default order as Wilmington Savings did not answer the complaint. (CP at 18-23).

Later in the month, North Cascade Trustee Service, Inc., was dismissed from the suit via a joint motion with the Zimmermans. (CP at 35). On the same day, Wilmington Savings was held in default by the trial court. (CP at 36). In March of 2017, the Zimmermans obtained an order quieting them title to the property over the deed of trust. (CP at 64).

- 4.9. Almost two years after service of the complaint, and only after a beneficial change in the law, Wilmington Savings moved for an order to show cause to set aside the default order. The sole basis of the motion was under CR-60(b)(5) based the lack of personal jurisdiction. (CP at 65-68). Wilmington Savings argued that the Zimmermans did not effectuate proper personal service under RCW 4.28.185, Washington State's long arm statute. (CP at 75). It, later, argued that the loan was not accelerated, and that the statute of limitations should only bar enforcement of payments due more than six years ago (due to a change in the law). (*e.g.*, CP at 126).
- 4.10. The Zimmermans responded by pointing out that the affidavit of non-service demonstrated that the Wilmington Savings insisted on being served at its 501 Carr Road, Wilmington, Delaware address. Wilmington Savings stated in its correspondence with the Zimmermans that all documents "must" be served there. (CP at 15, 94-99). The Zimmermans argued that since Wilmington Savings directed "all legal notices" to be sent out of state to Delaware, Wilmington Savings could not claim foul for the

Zimmermans doing exactly that they were told. (CP at 8; RP August 2, 2019, at 8-9).

- 4.11. The trial court, after hearing arguments at the show cause hearing and then on reconsideration, weighed the evidence and found that the Zimmermans substantial complied with the long arm statute and that service of process was properly perfected. (CP at 186, 205). The trial court, however, reviewed the merits of the case and granted Wilmington Savings motion in part by finding "no injury" to "payments not barred by the statute of limitations. . . ." (CP at 186-87, 205-06).
 - 4.12. The Zimmermans appealed.
- 4.13. On appeal, Division 2 held that the Zimmermans "personally served defendant Wilmington Savings Fund Society FSB in Delaware, but they failed to file a declaration stating that Wilmington could not be served in Washington as required by our long arm statute." *Zimmerman v. Wilmington Sav. Fund Soc'y FSB*, 16 Wn. App. 2d 1092 (2021). It further held that "The facts do not support a logical conclusion that service could not be had in Washington" and that "We disagree with the trial court and conclude that there was no substantial compliance" with "RCW 4.28.185(4)." *Id.* Finally, the Court of Appeals held, with no further analysis, that RCW 4.28.185 is "applied narrowly because jurisdiction obtained through service out of state is in derogation of the common law."

5. WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The Court of Appeals Decision is in Conflict with Decisions of this Court and Courts of Appeal Regarding the Proper Standard of Review Under RCW 4.28.185, Not Re-Weighing the Evidence on Appeal, and Not Disturbing Trial Court Factual Findings Supported by Substantial Evidence.

"A trial court must make findings of fact as to all the ultimate facts and material issues." *In re Marriage of Lutz*, 74 Wn. App. 356, 370, 873 P.2d 566, 574 (1994). Thus, a trial court's findings of fact are reviewed for substantial evidence. *McCleary v. State*, 173 Wn.2d 477, 514, 269 P.3d 227, 245 (2012).

"Substantial evidence is defined as a quantum of evidence sufficient to persuade a rational fair-minded person the premise is true." *Id.* In other words, courts of appeal defer to the trial court's determinations of the weight of the evidence. *Mueller v. Wells*, 185 Wn.2d 1, 9, 367 P.3d 580, 583 (2016). This is because a court of appeal should not vacate a factual finding made by the trial court unless it is clearly erroneous. *Tricore Investments, LLC v. Estate of Warren through Warren*, 168 Idaho 596, 485 P.3d 92, 106 (2021) (applying substantial evidence test and holding "the trial court's findings of fact will be liberally construed in favor of the judgment entered.").

The trial court need not "delineate which evidence went to any particular proposition." *Mueller*, 185 Wn.2d at 17. Direct and circumstantial

evidence is properly considered by the trial court. *Id.* The trial court may draw reasonable inferences from the evidence presented and those inferences are substantial evidence. *McEwen v. Tucci & Sons, Inc.*, 71 Wn.2d 539, 539, 429 P.2d 879, 879 (1967) (holding reasonable inferences from the evidence is substantial evidence and court of appeal has no ability to overturn such findings).

An appellate court may not substitute its judgment for that of the trial court even though it might have resolved the factual dispute differently. *Beeson v. Atl.-Richfield Co.*, 88 Wn.2d 499, 503, 563 P.2d 822, 824 (1977); *McEwen*, 71 Wn.2d at 539. Therefore, it is improper for a court of appeal to reweigh evidence considered by the trial court even if there is conflicting evidence. *Mueller*, 185 Wn.2d at 17 (holding appellate court erred by reweighing the evidence on appeal); *Merriman v. Cokeley*, 168 Wn.2d 627, 632, 230 P.3d 162, 165 (2010) (holding appellate court erred by reweighing the evidence on appeal). This is especially true since decisions to vacate a default judgment are reviewed for "abuse of discretion" and such abuse only occurs when the trial court is manifestly unreasonable.

Here, this Court should accept review of this case because Division 2's decision is in conflict with this Court's precedent. Division 2 erroneously re-weighed the evidence on appeal. It erroneously applied a strict interpretation standard to the appliable statute. Thus, this Court is

called upon to provide guidance to the Division 2 against re-weighing evidence on appeal and substituting its own judgment for that of the trial court. The trial court's finding was that the evidence, as a whole, "in effect" demonstrated that Wilmington Savings could not be served in Washington State. The trial court's factual finding was not manifestly unreasonable.

First, the Zimmermans were expressly told that Wilmington Saving purchased their loan. (CP at 8). Washington State has no city or town named "Wilmington." The common-sense factual conclusion—supported by reality—that Wilmington Savings in an out of state bank and does not have a Washington State presence cannot be reasonably ignored. The trial court acted within its discretion to draw the reasonable inference that the purchase notice given to the Zimmermans helped support the fact that Wilmington Savings did not have a Washington State presence to effectuate service of process.

Second, Wilmington Savings expressly told the Zimmermans that "legal notices" were to be "received" in Delaware, not Washington State:

NEW CREDITOR INFORMATION

Please be advised that all questions involving the administration of your loan (including questions related to payments, deferrals, modifications or foreclosures) should be directed to the servicer at the number above and/or the agent (if any) of the new creditor identified below, and not to the new creditor. The new creditor does not have access to information relating to the administration of your loan, and will not be able to answer most loan-related questions.

Name: Wilmington Savings Fund Society FSB as trustee for Stanwich Mortgage Loan Trust A

Mailing Address (not for payments):

500 Delaware Avenue 11th Floor Wilmington, DE 19801

302-888-7437

Telephone Number:

Scope of responsibilities: As new creditor, the above-named trust holds legal title to your loan. The trustee, on behalf of the new creditor, is authorized to receive legal notices and to exercise (or cause an agent on its behalf to exercise) certain rights of ownership with respect to your loan.

(CP at 8). Wilmington Savings has unclean hands and is estopped from arguing that out of service on them was improper. It is notable that the Zimmermans filed their complaint and summons *pro se*, relying on this direction from Wilmington Savings to serve legal notices on them in Delaware. The trial court was within its discretion to draw the reasonable inference that Wilmington Savings' instruction to serve legal notices on it in Delaware supported the fact that Wilmington Savings did not have a Washington presence to effectuate service of process.

Third, the process server reported that the "[s]ervice [was] rejected by Debbie Green, Legal Administrator" at the above address because she "was not authorized to accept service at th[at] location." (CP at 15). Instead, the process server was told by Wilmington Savings that "All documents related to a trust *must* be served on their trust division at 501 Carr Road,

Wilmington, DE 19809":

XXXX Non-Service: After due search, careful inquiry and diligent attempts at the address(es) listed above, I have been unable to effect process upon the person/entity being served because of the following reason(s):

Date Attempted: December 2, 2016

Time Attempted: 4:26 p.m.

** Service rejected by Debbie Green, Legal Administrator as they are not authorized to accept at this location. All documents related to a trust must be served on their trust division at 501 Carr Road, Wilmington, DE 19809.

I declare under penalty of perjury that the information contained herein is true and correct and this affidavit was executed on:

December 4, 2016 at Wilmington, Delaware

ic Cit

lity Sta

State of Delaware County of New Castle Daniel Newcomb, Process Server Delaware Attorney Services 3516 Silverside Rd. # 16 Wilmington, DE 19810

Subscribed and sworn before me, a Notary Public of the State of Delaware on December 4, 2016

Witness My Hand and Official Seal To

Kimberly J. Ryan My Commission Expires 4/29/2020 Notary Public, State of Delaware

authur.

(CP at 15) (emphasis added).² Thus, the trial court was within its discretion to draw the conclusion, or reasonable inference, that Wilmington Savings' direct instruction that all notices "must" be served on it in Delaware supported the fact that Wilmington Savings did not have a Washington presence to effectuate service of process.

Fourth, the process server's successful service on, and Wilmington Savings acceptance of service of, *Washington State court pleadings* at the address he was expressly instructed to serve such documents on by Wilmington Savings support that fact that Wilmington Savings did not have a Washington presence to effectuate service of process. The trial court was

² Wilmington Saving made arguments that this was a hearsay statement. Clearly, it would have been subject to the presence sense impression exception and admission by a party-opponent.

within its discretion to make such finding.

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