FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
9/1/2021 8:54 AM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/1/2021 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 99714-4

Court of Appeals No. 53763-0-II

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### KENNETH AND VICTORIA ZIMMERMAN

Petitioners,

V.

# WILMINGTON SAVINGS FUND SOCIETY FSB, AS TRUSTEE FOR STANWICH MORTGAGE LOAN TRUST A,

Respondent.

# ANSWER OF RESPONDENT WILMINGTON TO ZIMMERMANS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

Submitted by: Steven K. Linkon, WSBA #34896 Wright Finlay & Zak, LLP 612 S. Lucile St., Suite 300 Seattle, WA 98108

Phone: (425) 354-4050 Fax: (949) 608-9142

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE	
i.	The Court of Appeals affirms the trial court5
IV. ARGUMENT6	
i.	This case does not involve a significant question of law under the Constitution
	of the State of Washington or of the United States6
ii.	The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with any of the Appellate Cases
	cited by the Zimmermans10
iii.	The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with – and properly applies –
	the Supreme Court's prior holding in a case concerning RCW 4.28.185(4).11
iv.	There are no other reasons for the Supreme Court to accept Zimmermans
	petition for review11
VCONCLUSION12	

### TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

# Washington Cases

Edmundson v. Bank of Am. N.A., 194 Wn. App. 920, 927-28, 378 P.3d 272
(2016)4
Ha v. Signal Elec., Inc., 182 Wn. App. 436, 446, 332 P.3d 991 (2014)5,6
Hatch v. Princess Louise Corp., 13 Wn. App. 378, 380, 534 P.2d 1036 (1975)7
John Does v. CompCare, Inc., 52 Wn. App. 688, 693, 763 P.2d 1237 (1988)7
Haberman v. Washington Public Power Supply System, 109 Wn. 2d 107, 177 (1987)7
Sharebuilder Secs., Corp. v. Hoang, 137 Wn. App. 330, 334, 153 P.3d 222 (2007)7
Barr v. Interbay Citizens Bank, 96 Wn.2d 692, 696, 649 P.2d 827 (1982)8, 9, 10, 11
Morris v. Palouse River & Coulee City R.R., 149 Wn. App. 366, 372, 203 P.3d 1069
(2009)
Dobbins v. Mendoza, 88 Wn. App. 862, 871, 947 P.2d 1229 (1997)9
Meeker Court Condo Owners Ass'n v. Gonzalez, No. 77735-1-I, 2018 WL 1907812, at *1
(Wash. Ct. App. Apr. 23, 2018)10
Schell v. Tri-State Irrigation, 22 Wash. App. 788, 791,591 P.2d 1222 (1979)11
<b>Statutes</b> RCW 4.28.185(4)
RCW 7.28.3002
RCW 4.28.185
Rules
CR 60
CR 55(c)(1)
CR 60(b)(5)
CR 60

### I. INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF ANSWER

In 2008, the petitioners Kenneth P. Zimmerman, Jr., and Victoria L. Zimmerman (collectively, "the Zimmermans") obtained a mortgage loan of \$623,000, and made their last monthly payment in July of 2010. Six years later they filed an action seeking to quiet title against the lender's deed of trust (securing the loan against the Zimmermans' property) alleging foreclosure would be barred by the six-year statute of limitations. The Zimmermans served respondent Wilmington Savings Fund Society FSB, as trustee for Stanwich Mortgage Loan Trust A ("Wilmington") in Delaware, but they failed to file a declaration stating why Wilmington could not be served in Washington as required by RCW 4.28.185(4), Washington's long arm statute.

Wilmington did not timely appear in the action and the trial court granted a default order and judgment against Wilmington extinguishing the deed of trust. Wilmington moved to vacate the default order and judgment, arguing that the court lacked personal jurisdiction based on the Zimmermans' failure to comply with RCW 4.28.185(4). In response, the Zimmermans asserted that they had substantially complied with the long arm statute because they filed an affidavit from a process server from which they claimed the court could have logically concluded that service could not be had in Washington. No authority allowing such an inference was provided and, as the trial court, and the Court of Appeals both recognized, Wilmington was entitled to have the default orders vacated and for the matter to be decided instead on the merits. On the merits, the trial court found, and the Court of Appeals affirmed, that Wilmington was entitled to enforce the loan as to those payments which were not time-barred. Having been deprived of their anticipated windfall, the Zimmermans have now petitioned this Court in the hope that it will reinstate the default and, thus, allow them to avoid their obligations under their Loan. The Supreme Court should deny the Zimmermans' petition for review for at least the following reasons:

First, there is no constitutional issue that the Supreme Court needs to decide. The Zimmermans arguments about the proper interpretation of Washington's long arm statute does not give rise to a constitutional issue.

*Second*, the Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with prior Court of Appeals decisions in other cases.

*Third*, the Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with any Supreme Court precedents.

Fourth, there are no public policy or other reasons which would warrant the Supreme Court accepting review. The Zimmermans disappointment that their default judgment was set aside, depriving them of that windfall is not a genuine grievance, much less one affecting the public interest.

#### II. IDENTITY OF ANSWERING PARTY

Wilmington Savings Fund Society FSB, as trustee for Stanwich Mortgage Loan Trust A ("Wilmington") is the respondent in this appeal, and was a defendant and counterclaimant in the underlying action.

### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Wilmington held a promissory note secured by a deed of trust on the Zimmermans' home. Clerk's Papers ("CP) 2, ¶¶ 7 and 8, CP 3, ¶¶ 9 and 10. The note required monthly installment payments until 2038. CP 2. It is undisputed that the Zimmermans stopped making their monthly payments and that they were in default as of July 1, 2010. CP 3, ¶ 12. Wilmington did not accelerate the debt, and the Zimmermans never resumed payments. <sup>1</sup>

RCW 7.28.300 allows the owner of real estate to quiet title against a deed of trust where an action to foreclose would be barred by the statute of limitations. In 2016, Zimmerman sued to quiet title over the Wilmington deed of trust based on RCW 7.28.300 seeking to have the deed of trust declared null and void. CP 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Kenneth P. Zimmerman, et al., v. Wilmington Savings Fund Society FSB, as Trustee, etc. No.53763-0-II, slip. op. at 2 (Wash. Ct. App. March 30, 2021) (unpublished),

The Zimmermans filed two affidavits related to their service of the complaint on Wilmington. First, a process server attempted to serve Wilmington at 500 Delaware Avenue in Wilmington, Delaware. The process server's first affidavit explained that service was rejected and a "[1]egal [a]dministrator" told them that "[a]ll documents related to a trust must be served on their trust division at 501 Carr Road" in Wilmington, Delaware. CP 15. The second affidavit established service of the summons and complaint at the Carr Road address. CP 16. Neither affidavit mentioned any attempt or inability to serve Wilmington in Washington. Nor is there any admissible information in the record explaining why Wilmington could not be served in Washington.

Wilmington did not appear, and the trial court entered an order of default in February 2017. CP 36-37. The trial court also entered an order concluding that the underlying debt secured by the deed of trust would be barred by the statute of limitations, quieting title, and requiring that the deed of trust be removed from the county auditor's record. CP 63-64.

In December 2018, Wilmington filed a CR 60 motion to show cause why default should not be set aside and vacated. CP 65-75. Wilmington argued that under RCW 4.28.185(4), for service to have been valid for purposes of seeking to enter a default, the Zimmermans were required to first have filed an affidavit establishing that Wilmington could not be served in Washington, but they failed to do so. As a result, the trial court lacked personal jurisdiction over Wilmington, so that the default judgment was void and therefore had to be vacated.

The trial court entered an order requiring the Zimmermans to show cause why the default orders should not be vacated. CP 76-77. In response, the Zimmermans argued that they had substantially complied with the long arm affidavit requirement because they had submitted an affidavit explaining that their process server had been told, while attempting to make personal service at one address in Delaware, that all documents related to a trust had to be served at Wilmington's Carr Road address, also in Delaware. They claimed that the *inference* from this affidavit was that Wilmington could not be served in Washington. CP 89-99.

The trial court initially declined to vacate the default order, presuming that there had been substantial compliance with the long arm statute. Wilmington moved for reconsideration. Because a substantial compliance finding requires consideration of harm or injury, Wilmington argued on reconsideration that the entire amount owed under the note should not have been excused as a matter of law and the default judgment gave the Zimmermans relief vastly greater than that to which they were legally entitled. CP 115-132. The note required monthly installment payments, and the statute of limitations accrued for each missed payment when that payment became due. *See Edmundson v. Bank of Am. N.A.*, 194 Wn. App. 920, 927-28, 378 P.3d 272 (2016). Thus, when Wilmington moved for reconsideration in 2019, only two to three years of payments due for over six years were barred. Payments less than six years delinquent, and payments that had not yet become due on the 30-year note, were not barred by the statute of limitations. The default judgment extinguishing the loan deprived Wilmington the right and ability to enforce payment obligations not yet barred by the statute of limitations.

Upon reconsideration, the trial court analyzed the harm or injury prong of the substantial compliance defense, and found the default judgment harmed Wilmington by extinguishing payments not barred by the statute of limitations because they were not in default more than six years, and payments not yet due on the 30-year note. Thus, the default judgment afforded the Zimmermans relief greater than which they were legally entitled, and Wilmington was harmed or injured by the default judgment. The trial court then entered an order that effectively granted the relief Wilmington requested. CP 204-207. The final order on reconsideration stated: "The [d]efault and [d]efault [j]udgment entered against Wilmington are vacated only with respect to installment payments not barred by the statute of limitations related to [p]laintiffs' complaint." CP at 206. The trial court also included language stating that it "hereby finds" "[t]he [p]laintiffs substantially complied with RCW 4.28.185 and service was valid on the [d]efendants in Delaware.

Wilmington filed a counter claim for judicial foreclosure. The trial court later granted summary judgment to Wilmington and entered a judgment for money (for sums due that were

not barred by the statute of limitations) and a decree of foreclosure in Wilmington's favor under the same cause number. In part, this later order granted summary judgment to Wilmington on the Zimmermans' quiet title claim. <sup>2</sup>

The Zimmermans appealed the order on reconsideration vacating the default order and judgment against Wilmington. Notably, they *did not* appeal the summary judgment order nor the money judgment and decree of foreclosure.

### i. The Court of Appeals affirms the trial court.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court in this case. As an initial matter, the Court noted that: "Default judgments are generally disfavored because we prefer to determine cases on their merits. *Ha v. Signal Elec., Inc.*, 182 Wn. App. 436, 446, 332 P.3d 991 (2014)." The Court then went on to find that the process server's affidavit did not identify any attempt or inability to serve Wilmington in Washington and instead only addressed service attempts made in Delaware. There was no other evidence in the record that service in Washington was attempted. The affidavit also did not include any discussion with Wilmington's legal administrator about whether or how service in Washington could be accomplished. The facts do not support a logical conclusion that service could not be had in Washington. The Court of Appeals also disagreed with the trial court concluding there was no substantial compliance with the statute; the Zimmermans failed to satisfy RCW 4.28.185(4).<sup>3</sup> The Court of Appeals did not address Wilmington's argument about the no harm or injury prong of the substantial compliance test, nor Zimmermans' argument that the trial court should not have considered the underlying statute of limitations argument, because the Zimmermans failed to establish that service could not be had in Washington as required by RCW 4.28.185(4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Kenneth P. Zimmerman, et al., v. Wilmington Savings Fund Society FSB, as Trustee, etc. No.53763-0-II, slip. op. at 4 (Wash. Ct. App. March 30, 2021) (unpublished),

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Kenneth P. Zimmerman, et al., v. Wilmington Savings Fund Society FSB, as Trustee, etc. No.53763-0-II, slip. op. at 8 (Wash. Ct. App. March 30, 2021) (unpublished).

The Court of Appeals concluded: "While we disagree with the trial court's reasoning in part, we affirm the trial court's order to vacate the default order and judgment." <sup>4</sup>

#### IV. ARGUMENT

i. This case does not involve a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States.

The Court of Appeals decision in this case does not involve a significant—or even debatable—constitutional issue. RAP 13.4(b)(3) provides that the Supreme Court will accept a petition for review if the case involves a "significant question of law" under the Washington or U.S. constitutions. This case is about the effect of failing to comply with the requirements of RCW 4.28.185(4), Washington's long arm statute, not about any constitutional rights or issues.

Instead, the Zimmermans contend that the trial court erred when it granted Wilmington's CR 60 motion to vacate the default order and judgment. They nonetheless assert that the portion of the trial court order finding substantial compliance with the affidavit requirement in RCW 4.28.185(4), cannot be revisited because Wilmington did not appeal. Alternatively, the Zimmermans argue that service was proper because they substantially complied by filing an affidavit explaining that their process server was orally told, while trying to effect personal service at a different Delaware address, that service should be made instead at the Carr Road address in Delaware. The Zimmermans assert that if service was proper, then Wilmington raised no valid basis under CR 60 to vacate the default order and judgment, and they contend that the trial court improperly modified a final order. Finally, the Zimmermans argue there was no basis for the trial court to consider the merits of the underlying statute of limitations issue when addressing the motion to vacate.

As held by the Court of Appeals. default judgments are generally disfavored because Washington prefers to determine cases on their merits. *Ha v. Signal Elec., Inc.*, 182 Wn. App. 436, 446, 332 P.3d 991 (2014). Under CR 55(c)(1), a default order may be set aside "[f]or good cause shown and upon such terms as the court deems just," and a default judgment may be set

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Kenneth P. Zimmerman, et al., v. Wilmington Savings Fund Society FSB, as Trustee, etc. No.53763-0-II, slip. op. at 9 (Wash. Ct. App. March 30, 2021) (unpublished),

aside under CR 60(b). CR 60(b), provides that a court may relieve a party from a final order or judgment for several enumerated reasons, including that the judgment is void. CR 60(b)(5). A default judgment is void when entered without personal jurisdiction. *Ha*, 182 Wn. App. at 446.

The Court of Appeals decision involves a straightforward analysis of personal jurisdiction and RCW 4.28.185(4). To invoke personal jurisdiction over an out-of-state defendant, the plaintiff must comply with Washington's long arm statute. The statute provides that "[p]ersonal service outside the state shall be valid only when an affidavit is made and filed to the effect that service cannot be made within the state." RCW 4.28.185(4). Personal service on the out-of-state defendant ordinarily does not become valid until the affidavit is filed, making a judgment entered absent the required affidavit void for lack of personal jurisdiction. *Hatch v. Princess Louise Corp.*, 13 Wn. App. 378, 380, 534 P.2d 1036 (1975). The party seeking to show proper jurisdiction has the burden to show compliance. *See John Does v. CompCare, Inc.*, 52 Wn. App. 688, 693, 763 P.2d 1237 (1988). The Court also observed that the statute is applied narrowly because jurisdiction obtained through service out of state "is in derogation of the common law." *Hatch*, 13 Wn. App. at 380.

Although substantial compliance with the affidavit requirement can sometimes be enough, the cases so holding make this a narrow exception. Thus, in *Haberman v. Washington Public Power Supply System*, 109 Wn. 2d 107, 177 (1987), this Court observed:

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